#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 75,201

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Florida Department of Revenue, was the defendant below. Appellees include the Magazine Publishers of America, Inc. (MPA), a national trade association comprised of 213 publishers. The Hearst Corporation, Time, Inc., Golf Digest/Tennis, Inc., and Meredith Corporation, were plaintiffs below and are non-Florida corporate members of the MPA. They will be referred to collectively as the "Magazines."

Appellees also include The Miami Herald Publishing Company,
Florida Press Association, The Tallahassee Democrat, Inc.,
Florida Publishing Company, Inc., who were intervenors. They
will be referred to collectively as "Newspaper Publishers."

Also intervening below and appearing as Appellees are the Florida Catholic Conference, Inc., The Voice Publishing Co., Inc., The Daughters of St. Paul, Inc., and Florida Baptist Witness, Inc. They will be referred to collectively as the "Religious Publishers."

The record consists of an Appendix attached hereto.

References to the Appendix are designated by (App. \_\_\_), with citation to the appropriate page number. References to the transcripts, copies of which are made part of Appendix, are similarly designated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case began as a complaint by the Magazines for declaratory judgment, seeking an Order declaring that §212.05(1)(i), Fla. Stat., <sup>1</sup> is void on its face and as applied because it violates the State and Federal constitutions. (App. 7-14) Specifically, the Magazines alleged that the tax violated the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Art. I, §§2 and 4 and Art. II, §3 of the Florida Constitution. (App. 12-13)

On cross-motions for final summary judgment, the trial court found that Ch. 212, Fla. Stat., violated the First Amendment because it treated "magazines" and "newspapers" differently - taxing the former while exempting the later. (App. 0-6). The trial court held in a Final Summary Judgment (Order) that it was bound to invalidate a tax on "magazines" and enjoin its collection. (App. 5).

The Magazines include a national trade association, the MPA, comprised of 213 publishers, including: The Hearst Corporation; Time, Inc.; Golf Digest/Tennis, Inc.; and Meredith Corporation. They publish magazines and other publications sold at newsstands

The statute currently provides in pertinent part:

<sup>[</sup>A] tax is levied on each taxable transaction. . . as follows:

<sup>(</sup>i) At the rate of 6 percent on the retail price of magazines sold or used in Florida.

and by subscription, most of whom sell publications to Florida residents. (App. 9-10)

The Newspaper Publishers who sought and were granted intervention below include the Miami Herald Publishing Company (Herald). (App. 538-540) In its motion to Intervene, the Herald alleged that if the trial court were to invalidate the statutory newspaper exemption, the Herald would be adversely affected. (App. 540) Also among the Newspaper Publishers intervening on this basis were the Florida Press Association, an association alleged to include Florida daily and weekly newsprint publishers, the Tallahassee Democrat, Inc., publishing the Tallahassee Democrat, the Florida Publishing Company, publishing The Florida Times-Union, and Citrus Publishing, Inc., publishing The Citrus County Chronicle. (App. 543-546)

The Religious Publishers who intervened below include The Florida Baptist Witness, Inc., publishing weekly the <u>Florida</u>

<u>Baptist Witness</u>. (App. 553-554) The Florida Baptist Witness

Inc. alleged that if the trial court were to invalidate the exclusion for religious periodicals, 2 it would be adversely affected. (App. 551)

The Religious Publishers also include the Florida Catholic Conference, which alleged that it from time to time sells and distributes religious publications (App. 562-565), The Voice Publishing Company, publishing bi-weekly The Voice, (App. 564)

Section 212.06(9), Fla. Stat.

and the Daughters of St. Paul, Inc., alleged to own and operate a "bookstore" in Florida which "sells bibles, hymn books, prayer books, religious publications and other items of tangible personal property described in Section 212.06(9), Florida Statutes." (App. 564) Each alleged that they would be adversely affected by a decision of the trial court which invalidated §212.06(9), Fla. Stat. (App. 564)

The Legislature first enacted a statute taxing the sale and use of tangible personal property in Florida in 1949. The Revenue Act of 1949, Ch. 26319, Laws of Fla. (1949), exempted "newspapers" in section 8 thereof. The tax imposed did not apply to the use, sale or distribution of religious publications and like Church service raiments and equipment "to or by Churches for use in their customary religious activities." Ch. 26319, §6, Laws of Fla. This exclusion was later amended to omit the quoted language. Ch. 26871, §8, Laws of Fla. (1951). In 1957 subscriptions to "magazines" entered as second class mail sold for an annual or longer period of time were specifically made exempt. Ch. 57-821 §1 (1957). Magazines and other periodicals sold over the counter remained subject to tax for many years thereafter. See, infra, footnote 4.

Effective July 1, 1987, Ch. 86-166, §5, Laws of Fla., amended §212.08(6), Fla. Stat., to withdraw the exemption previously granted "newspapers." By Ch. 87-101, §12, Laws of Fla., §212.05(1), Fla. Stat., was amended to add subsection (i), which imposed a tax:

(i) At the rate of 5 percent on the retail price of newspapers and magazines sold or used in Florida.

Thus, a circulation tax applied to virtually all secular publications, including newspapers and magazines, effective July 1, 1987.

Effective 1 January 1988, Chapter 87-548, §8, Laws of Fla. (1987), amended section 212.05(1)(i), Fla. Stat., to remove reference to "newspapers" leaving "magazines" subject to tax at the increased six percent rate. By Chapter 87-548, §26, Laws of Fla. (1987), an exemption for "newspapers" was created in section 212.08(7)(w), Fla. Stat., providing:

(w) Newspapers - Likewise exempt are newspapers.

After bringing the complaint, the Magazines obtained an Order (App. 290-291) requiring Appellant to identify publications provided by the Magazines as either "magazines" or "newspapers" and to make its representative available concerning the answers given to the interrogatories. The answers of Appellant to the interrogatories appear in the record (App. 292-296) as does the deposition of Appellant's representative. (App. 245-296)
Appellant's Motion to Strike the transcript and answers (App. 47-52) was denied by the trial court. (App. 314)

On 25 May 1989, Appellant moved for Final Summary Judgment on all counts of the Complaint. (App. 15-18) On 22 June 1989, Appellant served a memorandum in support thereof. (App. 19-31)

On 22 June 1989, the Magazines served their Motion for Summary Judgment under Count I, together with several affidavits. (App. 32-46) Simultaneously, the Magazines noticed the filing of the transcripts of depositions taken on October 12, 1989 of two of Appellant's employees, the 13 June 1989 deposition of Charles B. Strausser, taken pursuant to the above mentioned Order and the answers to the above mentioned interrogatories. (App. 151-296) Appellees subsequently served their Memorandum in support of their motion and in opposition to Appellant's motion (App. 53-68) and Appellant served its response. (App. 69-75)

A hearing was held on 12 July 1989 on the cross motions.

The trial court continued the hearing (App. 299-340) and Ordered (App. 77-78) that two issues be briefed for further consideration:

- 1. If the Court believes that the law in its present state offends the general applicability rule, what is the court compelled to do under the provisions of Section 212.21, Florida Statutes? Does the Court declare the exemption granted to newspapers to be unconstitutional, or does the Court declare the law as it applies to magazines to be unconstitutional?
- 2. Must the Court look to the exemption for religious periodicals in answering the question of the constitutionality of the statute, and should the Court also strike the exemption for religious periodicals if its is going to strike the exemption for newspapers, thereby making the tax applicable to religious periodicals, newspapers and magazines?

During the period of time allowed to brief these issues the various intervenors listed above joined the action as parties, filing various pleadings, motions and memoranda, which are included in the Appendix. (App. 538-683)

After briefing, a hearing on the motions for summary final judgment was held on 5 October 1989 (App. 231-537) to further consider the motions and, additionally, the Religious Publisher's Motion to Strike "all evidence previously submitted by any party concerning the exclusion of religious publications. . ." from the sales tax statute. (App. 144) The trial court granted the Motion to Strike by separate order. (App. 146-148). After hearing, the trial court entered the final Order. (App. 0-6)

Appellant filed an appeal to the First District Court of Appeal. (App. 149-150) On Motion for Certification filed by the Appellees, the First District Certified that the question raised herein required immediate resolution. This Court accepted jurisdiction on 5th January, 1990.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in overruling this Court's controlling precedent. The Magazines claim that differential treatment causes their competitive disadvantage. Limited exclusions from a generally applicable tax are not invalid. The Legislature rationally promoted legitimate goals.

The press is not immune from a generally applicable tax.

Newspapers are subject to Florida's excise tax but for an exemption. Religious publications enjoy a preference in the form of an exclusion. Nevertheless, Florida imposes tax on those who are trafficking in the business of speech, including book, magazine and periodical publishers.

If the trial court correctly concludes that differential treatment is invalid, the Order compounds the invalidity by devising a new exemption for magazines. The Order requires the state to treat magazines differently from books and periodicals. No guidance is provided to administer this new exemption.

No precedent allows the judiciary to create a magazine exemption. The cause of any invalid differential treatment lies in statutory preferences. Since magazines are not immune, it does not follow that preferences must be expanded, rather than severed.

The solution to the Magazine's successful argument is to sever the preferences producing differential treatment.

Severance is supported by the legislative intent and by precedent. The revenue act is not designed to confer exemptions. Unlike the Order's remedy, severance does not produce an unconstitutional result. Severance eliminates targeting.

I. THE EXISTENCE OF A NEWSPAPER EXEMPTION WAS AN IMPROPER BASIS FOR FINDING AN EXCISE TAX ON MAGAZINES CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID

Α.

That magazine readers suffer an excise tax burden not borne by newspaper readers is not of constitutional significance. This Court stated in Gasson v. Gay, 49 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1950):

The classification made by the Legislature, so as to tax magazines and periodicals and exempt newspapers, is reasonable and valid and does not offend either the state or federal constitutions as alleged in the bill of complaint.

Id. at 526-527. Gasson is controlling unless changed by this Court. State v. Dwyer, 332 So.2d 333 (Fla. 1976); Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973); Eddings v. Davidson, 302 So.2d 155, 157 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). The trial court erred by overruling Gasson, which decision was rendered long after Grosjean v. American Press, 297 U.S. 233 (1936), relied upon below.

No subsequent decision from any other court could form the basis for overturning this Court's controlling precedent. <u>Dwyer</u>, <u>supra</u>. Moreover, no United States Supreme Court opinion has held that an excise tax exemption limited to "newspapers" creates an invalid classification under the Free Press clause of the United States Constitution.

в.

If this Court chooses to reconsider <u>Gasson</u>, the tax code still passes muster.

The United States Supreme Court has invalidated tax classifications on First Amendment grounds in narrowly limited circumstances: where a tax singled out newspapers for unique, possibly disadvantageous treatment; Minneapolis Star & Tribune Co. v. Minnesota Commissioner of Revenue, 460 U.S. 575 (1983); Grosjean, supra; where the tax law differentiated among magazines based upon content; Arkansas Writers' Project, Inc. v. Ragland, 481 U.S. 221, 233 (1987) (". . .the Arkansas sales tax cannot be characterized as nondiscriminatory, because it is not evenly applied to all magazines." Id. at 229); and where the tax law provided "a tax exemption limited to the sale of religious literature by religious organizations. . . . "; Texas Monthly, Inc. v. Bullock, 489 U.S. \_\_\_, 109 S.Ct. 890, 907 (1989) (Blackmun, J., opinion concurring in judgment).

The provision for the limited exemption of "newspapers" from an otherwise general tax does not constitute impermissible discrimination. Gasson, supra. In Minneapolis Star, the Supreme Court stated that exemptions which are isolated exceptions and not the rule do not render a tax on the press invalid as discriminatory. 460 U.S. 585 n.5 (discussing Oklahoma Press Publishing Co. v. Walling, 327 U.S. 186 (1946)), (the exemption of small weekly and semi-weekly newspapers from Fair Labor Standards Act did not preclude application of the Act to daily newspapers.).

In <u>Texas Monthly</u>, Justices Brennan and Blackmun opined that the Court could approve an excise tax exemption based on content, so long as the exemption swept widely enough that its sole purpose or effect was not to sponsor religion. 109 S.Ct. at 899-900, 903.

A majority gave Texas the option to expand its exemption to promote some legitimate secular aim. <u>Id.</u> The opinion of Justice White, concurring in judgment, 109 S.Ct. at 905, that <u>Ragland</u> was directly applicable to prohibit content based discrimination generates little, if any, discussion in the other opinions.

A majority interpretation of the First Amendment clearly suggests that a State may legitimately choose to exempt some publications and not others based entirely on content if, for example, Texas had sought to promote "...reflection and discussion about questions of ultimate value. . . . " 109 S.Ct. at 900.

Tax exemptions are a form of subsidy administered through the tax system. E.g., Regan v. Taxation With Representation of Washington, 461 U.S. 540 (1983). The First Amendment does not require states to subsidize the exercise of rights thereunder. Id. at 546.

The Regan Court reviewed an Internal Revenue Code (I.R.C.) provision denying an organization the ability to receive tax-deductible contributions to support its lobbying activities. Recognizing that exemptions are akin to subsidies, the Court held that Congress' decision not to subsidize lobbying did not burden or interfere with the organization's First Amendment right to lobby. Id. at 548.

In Regan, the organization also raised an equal protection argument. It pointed to another I.R.C. provision allowing deductions for contributions to veterans' organizations, even if engaged in lobbying. The plaintiff argued that since others received a subsidy, plaintiffs must receive one too. Id. at 546-547.

The Supreme Court upheld the regulation, applying the "rational basis" test:

Legislatures have especially broad latitude in creating classifications and distinctions in tax statutes.

The broad discretion as to classification possessed by a Legislature in the field of taxation has long been recognized. . . The burden is on the one attacking the legislative arrangement to negate every conceivable basis which might support it.

Id. at 547-548. (quoting Madden v. Kentucky, 309 U.S. 83 (1940)).

The Regan Court expressly rejected the applicability of the higher, "strict scrutiny" standard, even though First Amendment rights were implicated:

[The lower court's] opinion suggests that strict scrutiny applies whenever Congress subsidizes some speech, but not all speech. This is not the law.

Id. at 548-550. The Regan Court would, however, strictly scrutinize a tax structure designed to suppress particular ideas.

Id. at 550. Florida's "newspaper" exemption creates a content-neutral distinction. The determination of whether a publication may be an exempt newspaper is primarily a function of the frequency of its publication. (App. 275-276, 282)

In terms of the qualification for tax-exemption, Rule 12A1.008, Fla. Admin. Code, places particular emphasis upon the role
of "newspapers" in publishing news while it is new. A
significant public interest justifies governmental promotion for
publishers who engage in the immediate dissemination of news. By

primarily focusing on the criteria of timeliness and immediacy, Florida's exemption isolates a rational basis for classifying between "newspapers" and "magazines". The classification depends not upon content and/or format, but upon the constraints of timing.

Courts must generally sustain a statutory classification if any realistic and rational set of facts my be conceived to support it. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>North Ridge General Hospital v. City of</u>
Oakland Park, 374 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1979). There it was stated:

The legislature has wide discretion in creating statutory classifications. There is a presumption in favor of the validity of a statute which treats some persons or things differently from other.

[I]f any state of facts can reasonably be conceived that will sustain the classification attempted by Legislature, the existence of that state of facts at the time the law was enacted will be presumed by The deference due to the legislative judgment in the matter will be observed in all cases where the court cannot say on its judicial knowledge that the Legislature could not have had any reasonable ground for believing that there were public considerations justifying the particular classification and distinction made.

374 So.2d at 464-65 (citations omitted). Furthermore, one who assails the classification has the burden of showing it to be arbitrary or unreasonable. <u>Id.</u> at 465.

The Legislature could rationally conclude that newspapers are a primary source of timely and immediate information. While

<sup>3</sup> C.f., Section 252.33, Fla. Stat., the State Emergency

serving a useful public purpose in disseminating information, other publications might rationally be viewed as not providing the goal of immediacy. To further this legitimate goal, the Legislature could rationally pursue a policy of promoting, through use of an exemption, the public's access to news while it is new.

Ragland held impermissible a tax statute different from Florida's which targeted a small group within the press as a whole. 481 U.S. 233. Ragland required, as did Minneapolis Star, 460 U.S. at 581-582, that the taxpayer demonstrate that the tax creates some impermissible type of discrimination.

Nothing in the record demonstrates that the tax here at issue is discriminatory within the meaning of <u>Ragland</u>. There is no showing that a small group is taxed, or that most publishers are exempt. Just as in <u>Regan</u>, the Magazines challenge an exemption.

If the Legislature's rational is held insufficient and this Court overrules <u>Gasson</u>, it is appropriate to strike the preference rather than the underlying revenue measure, the rational for which is clear and critical.

Management Act, which empowers state officials to specifically require newspaper publishers to print public service messages furnishing information or instructions in connection with an emergency.

# II. CREATING A NEW MAGAZINE EXEMPTION WAS ERROR

Count I of the Magazines' Complaint had as its sole basis a challenge to the exemptions granted "newspapers" and "religious publications." (App. 11-12) The constitutional injury claimed was that these exemptions caused a differential treatment producing a competitive injury. (App. 11) But for the "newspaper" and "religious publication" exemptions, Count I stated no injury. No claim of immunity was or could be advanced. Nevertheless, the Magazines' sought and received relief in the form of a new exemption.

Recognizing their lack of immunity, the Magazines
mischaracterized the sales tax as one targeting "magazines."

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