0/4 3-9-90

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Appellant

v.

Case No. 75,201

MAGAZINE PUBLISHERS OF AMERICA, INC., THE HEARST CORPORATION, TIME, INC., GOLD DIGEST/TENNIS, INC., MEREDITH CORPORATION, MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING COMPANY, THE FLORIDA PRESS ASSOCIATION, THE TALLAHASSEE **PUBLISHING** DEMOCRAT, INC., FLORIDA COMPANY, CITRUS PUBLISHING COMPANY, INC., FLORIDA CATHOLIC CONFERENCE, INC., THE INC., THE PUBLISHING COMPANY, DAUGHTERS OF ST. PAUL, INC. AND FLORIDA BAPTIST WITNESS, INC.

Appellees.

FEB 19 1990 C

CLERK, SUCCESS COLUMN

Deputy Clerk

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Florida Department of Revenue, shall be referred to throughout this brief as "the Department". Appellees, Magazine Publishers of America, Inc., The Hearst Corporation, Time, Inc., Golf Digest/Tennis, Inc., and Meredith Corporation, shall be referred to collectively as "the Magazines."

Appellee, The Miami Herald Publishing Company, shall be referred to as "The Miami Herald." Appellees, The Florida Press Association, The Tallahassee Democrat, Inc., Florida Publishing Company, Inc. and Citrus Publishing Company, shall be referred to collectively as "the Newspaper Publishers."

Appellees, Florida Catholic Conference, Inc., The Voice Publishing Company, Inc., The Daughters of St. Paul, and Florida Baptist Witness, Inc., shall be referred to collectively as "the Religious Publishers."

References to the record, which is included in its entirety in the Appendix filed by The Department, shall be designated as follows: "[App. \_\_\_\_]."

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Newspaper Publishers accept the Statement of the Case and Facts set forth in the Initial Brief of the Department served January 24, 1990.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE I**

The trial court's conclusion that Florida's current statutory distinction between magazines and newspapers for purposes of its sales and use tax violates the Press Clause of the First Amendment and the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment ignores or misapprehends applicable case law.

First, this Court has previously ruled that such a legislative classification does not offend either the state or federal constitutions. Gasson v. Gay, 49 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1950). Furthermore, this statutory classification is consistent with Minneapolis Star & Tribune v. Minnesota Commissioner of Revenue, 460 U.S. 575 (1983), Regan v. Taxation with Representation of Washington, 461 U.S. 540 (1983), and Arkansas Writers' Project, Inc. v. Ragland, 481 U.S. 221 (1987).

Unlike the tax in Minneapolis Star the Florida statutes at issue do not single out the press for a special tax burden, nor do they treat the press differently from any non-press business enterprises. See North American Publishers, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 436 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

The discrimination afforded by Florida's statutory classification is founded not in a special burden upon the press, or a small portion thereof, but rather upon an exemption for a discrete portion of the press. This legislative decision to not subsidize the magazines through a tax exemption, while extending such an exemption to newspapers, only incidentally affects First Amendment freedoms and does not impermissibly interfere with or burden those rights. Regan v. Taxation with Representation of Washington, supra.

Moreover, unlike the tax in <u>Arkansas Writers'</u>, Florida's sales and use tax does not target a small group within the press for a special burden, nor is it content-based. <u>See</u>

Fla. Admin. Code Rule 12A-1.008(1)(b-e) (definition of "newspaper"); and Rule 12A-1.008(3) (definition of "magazine"). To the extent that Rule 12A-1.008 may be impermissibly content-based, however, the appropriate remedy is not to strike the statutory exemption for newspapers but to eliminate the invalid portions of the rule. See Dade County v. Keyes, 141 So.2d 819, 822 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962).

Furthermore, while it may occasionally be difficult to determine whether a given publication is a "newspaper," that difficulty is not of constitutional dimension, and Florida law provides to the aggrieved taxpayer an impressive and varied arsenal of administrative remedies to an allegedly improper determination. See Cross Key Waterways v. Askew, 351 So.2d 1062, 1069 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), aff'd., 372 So.2d 913 (1978).

For all these reasons, the trial court erred in concluding that the appropriate standard by which to judge Florida's statutory distinction between newspapers and magazines is a "strict scrutiny" test. The appropriate test is a "rational basis" test, and the Magazine Publishers failed "to negative every conceivable basis which might support it." Regan, 461 U.S. at 547-548. This Court should therefore reverse the trial court's holding that this statutory distinction is constitutionally invalid.

#### **ISSUE II**

Assuming that there is a constitutional infirmity in Florida's distinguishing between newspapers and magazines for sales and use tax purposes, the appropriate statutory remedy is to make the newspapers' exemption more inclusive and to strike the tax on magazines.

First, whenever a tax has been held to violate the First Amendment, the remedy has always been to strike the tax, not the exemption. See Arkansas Writers', supra;

Minneapolis Star, supra; Grosjean v. American Press Company, 297 U.S. 233 (1936); Louisiana Life, Ltd. v. McNamara, 504 So.2d 900 (La. App. 1987); Dow Jones & Company v. Oklahoma, 16 Med.L.Rptr. 2049 (Ok. 1989).

Second, Section 212.21(1), Florida Statutes, essentially expresses the legislative intent that any section or subsection declared unconstitutional be severed. The magazine tax, which is specifically set forth in Section 212.05(1)(i), should therefore be severed pursuant to this expression of legislative intent.

Furthermore, while Section 212.21(4) does express the legislative intent that any exemption declared unconstitutional be severed, it is not the Legislature's decision to exempt newspapers from the sales and use tax that is unconstitutional but its tax on magazines. Accordingly, Section 212.21(4) does not mandate that the newspapers' exemption be stricken.

However, even if one accepts the Department's construction of Section 212.21(4), the Court is faced with an equipoise: on the one hand, pursuant to Section 212.21(4), it can strike the newspaper exemption, \$212.08(7)(w), but on the other hand, pursuant to Section 212.21(1), it can strike the magazine tax, \$212.05(1)(i). At the very least, therefore, the legislative intent expressed in Section 212.21 is unclear. Accordingly, this Court should look to Welsh v. United States, 398 U.S. 331 (1970), which provides useful guidance.

In exercising the broad discretion conferred by a severability clause, it is, of course, necessary to measure the intensity of the commitment to the residual policy and consider the degree of potential disruption of the statutory scheme that would occur by extension as opposed to abrogation.

398 U.S. at 365.

The history of Florida's sales and use tax, coupled with this country's historical suspicion of "taxes on knowledge" indicates that Florida's exemption for newspapers "has

roots so deeply embedded in history (that) there is a compelling reason for a court to hazard the necessary statutory repairs if they can be made within the administrative framework of the statute." 398 U.S. at 366. Since this is a taxing statute, and since the legislative intent expressed in Section 212.21 is, at the very least, unclear, the statute must be construed most strongly against the government and liberally in favor of the taxpayer. See, e.g., Harbor Ventures, Inc. v. Hutches, 366 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1979). This end is accomplished by preserving intact the newspapers' exemption, \$212.08(7)(w), and striking the tax on magazines, \$212.05(1)(i).

# ISSUE I: FLORIDA'S STATUTORY DISTINCTION BETWEEN MAGAZINES AND NEWSPAPERS FOR PURPOSES OF THE FLORIDA SALES AND USE TAX IS CONSTITUTIONALLY PERMISSIBLE

The trial court concluded that Florida's current statutory distinction between magazines and newspapers for purposes of its sales and use tax, see \$\$212.05(1)(i) and 212.08(7)(w), Fla. Stat., violates the Press Clause of First Amendment and the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution [App. 4-5]. In doing so, it misunderstood the import of two particular cases, to be discussed below, and ignored the teachings of several other, equally important decisions of the United States Supreme Court and Florida Supreme Court. When these decisions are properly analyzed and given due weight, this Court will find that the current statutory distinction does not have the constitutional infirmities found by the trial court.

It should first be pointed out that this Court has previously ruled that a legislative classification which exempts newspapers while taxing magazines does not offend either the state or federal constitutions. Gasson v. Gay, 49 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1950); accord Eddings v. Davidson, 302 So.2d 155 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). Since this Court had already spoken to the exact issue, the trial court lacked the power to overrule that decision, which can only be overturned by the Florida Supreme Court. See William v. Stuart, 291 So.2d 593 (Fla. 1974). In fact, even a district court of appeal cannot legitimately circumvent a decision of the Florida Supreme Court. The proper course is to rule in accordance with the Florida Supreme Court precedent and then certify that question to the Florida Supreme Court. Continental Assurance Company v. Carroll, 485 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1986).

Be that as it may, the issue is now squarely before this Court. It must therefore examine the United States Supreme Court decisions upon which the trial court relied and makes its own determination as to whether there are any compelling reasons found in

these decisions or elsewhere to overrule or recede from <u>Gasson v. Gay</u>, <u>supra</u>. The Newspaper Publishers believe that a better view of the decisions relied upon the trial court as well as several other recent United States Supreme Court and other court decisions still mandates that this legislative classification be upheld.

It should also be preliminarily noted that none of these cases squarely addresses this issue; in fact, in Arkansas Writers' Project, Inc. v. Ragland, 481 U.S. 221 (1987) ("Arkansas Writers"), the United States Supreme Court expressly refused to "decide whether a distinction between different types of periodicals presents an additional basis for invalidating the sales tax, as applied to the press." Id., at 232-233. Therefore, in the absence of any definitive United States Supreme Court precedent to the contrary, this Court should be especially careful in deciding whether to depart from Gasson v. Gay, supra.

This Court's analysis must necessarily focus upon a trio of relatively recent United States Supreme Court decisions: Minneapolis Star & Tribune v. Minnesota Commissioner of Revenue, 460 U.S. 575 (1983) ("Minneapolis Star"), Regan v. Taxation With Representation of Washington, 461 U.S. 540 (1983) ("Regan"), and Arkansas Writers', supra. A brief discussion of these cases is necessary to place them in their proper context and to fully appreciate their respective holdings.

Minneapolis Star involved a Minnesota use tax specifically imposed upon the cost of paper and ink used in the production of publications. Ink and paper used in publications were the only items subject to that use tax that were components to goods to be sold later at retail. Further, the Minnesota tax scheme provided an exemption for the first \$100,000 worth of ink and paper used by publication in a given year. That exemption in practical effect limited the tax to a small number of newspapers. Thus, some newspapers were taxed and some were not. 460 U.S. at 577-580.

As noted by the Court in Arkansas Writers', the discrimination found in the Minnesota use tax took two distinct forms.

First, in contrast to generally applicable economic regulations to which the press can legitimately be subject, the Minnesota use tax treats the press differently from other enterprises. 460 U.S., at 581 (the tax "singl[es] out publications for treatment that is... unique in Minnesota tax law"). Second, the tax targeted a small group of newspapers. This was due to the fact that the first \$100,000 of paper and ink were exempt from the tax; thus "only a handful of publishers pay any tax at all, and even fewer pay any significant amount of tax." Id., at 591.

#### Arkansas Writers', 481 U.S. at 228.

The Florida statutes at issue, however, do not single out the press for a special tax burden; Florida's sales and use tax scheme does not treat the press differently from any non-press enterprises. Therefore, it does not fall within the first form of discrimination which Minneapolis Star found constitutionally invalid. In other words, Florida does not impose sales or use taxes upon the press which are not generally applicable to other businesses. Moreover, since Florida's sales and use tax is a generally applicable tax, it does not target a small group of publishers, thus offending the second form of discrimination noted by Minneapolis Star.

This interpretation of Minneapolis Star is confirmed by North American Publishers, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 436 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). There, the publisher of a flyer subjected to Florida's sales tax challenged the newspaper exemption on the ground that it was being unfairly singled out for discriminatory treatment. The First District, however, concluded that Florida's sales tax was a generally applicable tax.

In the present case, in contrast to Minneapolis Star, appellant is subject to a sales tax which is widely applicable to businesses of all kinds as part of the general scheme of sales and use taxes prescribed in Chapter 212, Florida Statutes. In no way does the tax imposed in the present case resemble a penalty directed only at a few publications.

<u>Id.</u>, at 955-956. Thus, as <u>North American</u> teaches, a tax may still be "generally applicable" for First Amendment purposes yet not tax all publications in a like fashion.

The Magazine Publishers, of course, will argue that the constitutional infirmity lies in the fact that the Florida Legislature extended an exemption to newspapers which it did not extend to magazines. That is indeed the heart of this case. However, it is important to focus upon one particularly crucial point: the discrimination afforded by Florida's sales and use tax is founded not in a <u>special burden</u> upon the press, or a small portion thereof, but rather upon an <u>exemption</u> from the sales and use tax for discrete portion of the press.

This distinction becomes important in light of the Court's subsequent decision in Regan. In that case, the taxpayer argued that Congress' decision not to subsidize its lobbying by affording it tax-exempt status under \$501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. \$501(c)(3), violated its rights under the First Amendment. 461 U.S. at 544-545. The United States Supreme Court observed:

Generally, statutory classifications are valid if they bear a rational relation to a legitimate governmental purpose. Statutes are subjected to a higher level of scrutiny if they interfere with the exercise of a fundamental right, such as freedom of speech, or employ a suspect classification such as race.

461 U.S. at 547. The Court of Appeals, however, had held that "strict scrutiny" was required because the statute affected First Amendment Rights. The United States Supreme Court rejected that rationale:

[The Court of Appeals'] opinion suggests that strict scrutiny applies whenever Congress (i.e., the legislative branch) subsidizes some speech, but not all speech. This is not the law.

461 U.S. at 548. The Court went on to observe that it had "held in several contexts that a legislature's decision not to subsidize the exercise of a fundamental right (e.g., by providing a tax exemption) does not infringe the right, and thus is not subject to strict

Equal Protection challenges without applying strict scrutiny. <u>Id.</u>, citing <u>Buckley v. Valeo</u>, 424 U.S. 1, 93-108 (1976); <u>Harris v. McRae</u>, 448 U.S. 297, 322 (1980); <u>Maher v. Roe</u>, 432 U.S. 464 (1977). The Court explained:

The reasoning of these decisions is simple: "although government may not place obstacles in the path of a [person's] exercise of... freedom of [speech], it need not remove those not of its own creation."... Where governmental provision of subsidies is not "aimed at the suppression of dangerous ideas," its "power to encourage actions deemed to be in the public interest is necessarily far broader."

461 U.S. at 549-550 (citations omitted). This conclusion was echoed in Justice Blackmun's concurrence:

"I also agree that the First Amendment does not require the Government to subsidize protected activity, and that this principle controls disposition of (the taxpayer's) First Amendment claim.

461 U.S. at 551-552.

The Regan decision, recognizing that tax exemptions and deductions are akin to subsidies, held that the decision of Congress not to subsidize the taxpayer's lobbying did not impermissibly burden or interfere with its First Amendment right to engage in lobbying. The taxpayer was still free to lobby for its causes; the Congress, however, need not promote such an activity by providing it with a tax exemption. The sine qua non of this decision is a recognition that statutes, such as Florida's sales and use tax scheme, which incidentally affect First Amendment freedoms by withholding a tax deduction or preference, do not necessarily interfere with or burden those rights.

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